IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION TWO** STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. WILLIAM HORTON JR., Appellant. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY The Honorable Stephanie Arend, Judge **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI Attorney for Appellant

> Glinski Law Firm PLLC P.O. Box 761 Manchester, WA 98353 (360) 876-2736

Issues pertaining to assignments of error

- 1. Whether Article I, section 9, of the Washington Constitution requires law enforcement to clarify an equivocal request for counsel before proceeding with custodial interrogation.
- 2. In 1994 appellant entered a guilty plea to a charge of armed robbery in Florida, and the Florida court withheld adjudication. A withheld adjudication is not a conviction for a charge of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon in Florida. Where appellant had no other prior convictions, was the evidence insufficient to convict appellant of unlawful possession of a firearm in this case?
- 3. Appellant was charged with first degree murder, and he testified that he acted in self defense when the decedent attacked him believing appellant was a rival gang member encroaching on his territory. Where evidence of the decedent's gang affiliation was relevant to establish his motive for attacking appellant, place the shooting in context, and corroborate appellant's testimony, did the court's exclusion of that evidence deny appellant his right to present a defense?

- 4. Where the defense presented affirmative evidence from which the jury could find he was only reckless or negligent, did the court's refusal to instruct the jury on first and second degree manslaughter deny appellant his right to present a complete defense?
- 5. The prosecutor argued in closing and rebuttal that the jury could find appellant guilty of first degree murder if he formed the intent to kill after fatally shooting the decedent. Did this flagrant misstatement of the law on premeditation deny appellant a fair trial? If the prosecutor's misconduct could have been cured by instruction, did counsel's failure to object deny appellant the effective assistance of counsel?
 - 6. Does cumulative error necessitate reversal?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Procedural History</u>

On October 25, 2012, the Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney charged appellant William Charles Horton, Jr., with first degree murder and unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 1-2; RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a); RCW 9.41.040(1)(a). The State further alleged that Horton was armed with a firearm and that he committed the crimes with intent to "directly or indirectly cause any benefit, aggrandizement, gain, profit, or other advantage to or for a criminal street gang." CP 1-2; RCW 9.94A.535(3)(aa).

The case proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Stephanie A. Arend. The jury returned a guilty verdict on the unlawful possession of a firearm charge but was unable to reach a verdict on the murder charge. CP 316-21. After a second trial, the jury returned a guilty verdict on the murder charge and special verdicts finding Horton was armed with a firearm and that the gang aggravator had been established. CP 407-09. The court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law for an exceptional sentence and imposed a sentence of 421 months, 60 months above the standard range, with an additional 60 months for the firearm enhancement, for a total of 481 months confinement. It imposed a concurrent standard range sentence on the firearm charge. CP 442-46, 467-70. Horton filed this timely appeal. CP 453.

2. Substantive Facts

Shortly after 3:00 a.m. on October 24, 2012, police officers were dispatched to an apartment complex in Lakewood where gunshots were heard and one man was seen dragging another man into the parking lot. 12RP¹ 204, 207. When police arrived, they saw the deceased body of Charles Pitts in the parking lot. 12RP 208, 210. As they were

-

¹ The Verbatim Report of Proceedings is contained in 22 volumes, designated as follows: 1RP—3/18/14; 2RP—3/19/14; 3RP—3/24/14; 4RP—3/25/14; 5RP—3/26/14; 6RP—4/8/14; 7RP—4/14/14; 8RP—5/12/14; 9RP—5/14/14; 10RP—5/27/14; 11RP—5/28/14; 12RP—5/29/14; 13RP—6/2/14; 14RP—6/3/14; 15RP—6/4/14; 16RP—6/5/14; 17RP—6/9/14; 18RP—6/10/14; 19RP—6/11/14; 20RP—6/12/14; 21RP—6/13/14; 22RP—7/11/14.

approaching the scene, William Horton ran into the parking lot from an apartment, shouting "I'm going to kill you motherfucker." 12RP 209-10. Horton was carrying a gun in one hand, and his other hand was empty. 1RP 211, 277. Police ordered Horton to drop the gun and get on the ground. He complied and was taken into custody. 12RP 212-13.

There was some commotion near the apartment from which Horton had run, and officers contacted the people there. As they did so, Horton stated that he was the only suspect and the other people were not involved. 12RP 236-37. He then looked at Pitts, started laughing, and said he was dead. 12RP 238. Horton was placed in a patrol car with a video camera. 13RP 354. As he was being led to the car, he told the officer that his leg and back were injured. 13RP 364. He also said Pitts "was part of the Hilltop Crips and that's what did it." 13RP 355. Horton smelled of alcohol as he was placed in the patrol car. 13RP 365. He was advised of his rights but not questioned at that time. He was transported to the police station about 45 minutes later. 13RP 355, 357.

Baron Johnson was in the apartment, and he was asked to step outside while police cleared the residence. 12RP 214-15. There was blood on the floor in the entryway, and bloodstains indicated something had been dragged from inside to outside. 13RP 322; 15RP 698. There was blood on the wall between the living room and kitchen and blood on

the back wall of the kitchen near the bedroom. 15RP 707. Two spent cartridge casings were found in the house. 15RP 732. Another spent casing was lodged in the barrel of the gun, indicating that the gun had misfired and failed to eject the cartridge. 12RP 262; 15RP 732. Pitts had two gunshot wounds, and two bullets were recovered from his body. 15RP 682, 775. Police conducted an extensive search both inside and outside the apartment, and no third bullet was ever located. 15RP 775-76.

There was a fairly strong smell of marijuana in the apartment, although no marijuana was found when the apartment was cleared and searched. 13RP 330. A small black bag was found on the ground near Horton, which contained marijuana and Ecstasy. 12RP 277; 15RP 713; 17RP 1267. The bag had not been in Horton's hand when he ran outside with the gun. 12RP 277.

The medical examiner found gunshot wounds to Pitts' chest and abdomen. 15RP 828. He could not tell in what order the wounds were inflicted, but he determined that the chest wound was fatal. 15RP 830, 843. Both bullets entered the left side of the body and moved back and to the right. 16RP 916. The chest wound went down at a more dramatic angle than the abdominal wound, but the gun was in approximately the same location for both. 16RP 916. If the abdominal wound was caused first and Pitts bent forward in reaction to the pain before the chest wound

was inflicted, that would explain the difference in angles, with both Pitts and the shooter standing. 16RP 920-21. If the first shot was fired while Pitts was standing and the second after he was lying down, the shooter would have had to line the gun up in the same relative position to the body as the first shot when firing the second shot. 16RP 922.

Pitts had a blood alcohol concentration of .33, which would have significantly impaired his motor skills, speech, and memory. 15RP 838; 16RP 926, 929. It would be possible for someone with a .33 BAC to not remember having had contact with someone a half hour earlier due to intoxication. 16RP 931. Even an experienced drinker would be obviously intoxicated with a BAC of .33. 16RP 937.

During the investigation and trials in this case, various accounts were given of the events leading up to the shooting by witnesses and participants in the events. There was no dispute that during the day on October 23, 2012, several people were hanging out at Baron Johnson's apartment. 13RP 384. These included Horton, who was a close friend of Johnson's, Gregory Borja and his son Anthony Ross, and Alonza Williams. 13RP 370, 384; 16RP 989, 1051. Johnson barbequed, and he and his friends drank and smoked marijuana. 13RP 384, 388.

At some point during the day, police were called to the apartment because of a dispute between Horton and his girlfriend. 13RP 387. Police

patted Horton down but did not find a weapon. 17RP 1103; 19RP 1466. The situation was resolved, and the police left. 18RP 1388. Horton was upset, and he left with Carissa Bruns, his former girlfriend who had stopped by Johnson's apartment to see Horton. 18RP 1386, 1390; 19RP 1467. They had something to eat, and then talked for a while. 19RP 1467-68.

After the police incident Johnson, Borja, Ross, and Williams went to a nearby club. 13RP 392; 16RP 1052. Horton and Bruns went to the club as well. Horton was still upset at first, but his mood improved. 18RP 1414. When Bruns left, Horton joined the others. 13RP 392.

While Johnson was in the club, he saw Pitts in the parking lot. 13RP 393. Johnson was acquainted with Pitts, because Pitts had a child who lived in a neighboring complex, and it was not unusual to see him in the area. 13RP 375. Pitts did not go inside the club. 13RP 393. Borja also saw Pitts outside the club, and Pitts indicated that security would not let him in. 16RP 1058.

There was a dispute as to whether Horton had the gun with him throughout the day. Johnson and Ross testified that they had seen Horton with a gun before they went to the club, when Horton had it tucked into his pants. 14RP 595-96; 16RP 1015-16. Horton testified, however, that he did not have a gun on him. 19RP 1469. Johnson said he did not know

whether Horton had the gun when he was at the club. He agreed that there was security at the club but said they were not checking for weapons that night. 13RP 500-01. Ross, Borja, and Horton testified that there was security at the door, and people were being patted down for weapons as they entered. 16RP 1022, 1057; 19RP 1468. Borja nonetheless claimed that, after some guys had talked smack to Borja, Horton showed him a gun and said he had Borja's back. 16RP 1058. Ross, on the other hand, testified that there was no drama at the club, and the evening was uneventful. 16RP 995. Horton did not recall any incident with Borja at the club and testified that he did not have a gun while he was there. 19RP 1469.

Johnson and his friends left the club around closing and returned to Johnson's apartment. 13RP 394-95. Different people had different memories as to who rode with whom, but it was undisputed that Horton, Borja, Ross, Williams, and Pitts ended up there. 13RP 395; 16RP 998, 1061-62; 17RP 1076. Unlike Horton, Pitts seldom visited Johnson's apartment. 13RP 375. Horton testified that Pitts was walking in front of the apartment complex, but he did not go inside while the others were there. 19RP 1472. Johnson, Borja, and Ross testified that they all went inside, including Pitts. 13RP 396; 16RP 1003 17RP 1078. They claimed

that Horton and Pitts were inebriated, and they started slap boxing. 13RP 397; 16RP 1003-04; 17RP 1080.

Johnson was not feeling well, so he went into his room to use his nebulizer. 13RP 399-400. Borja, Ross, and Williams left. There is no dispute that sometime after Johnson went into his bedroom and the others left, Horton shot Pitts in the abdomen and chest, and he then dragged Pitts into the parking lot. He ran back inside to put on his shoes and jacket, and police were there when he ran outside again shouting that he would kill Pitts. 13RP 520.

On the morning of the shooting, Johnson told Officer Moody that he didn't see the shooting, but he heard one or two shots while he was in the bathroom. 13RP 456. He gave that same information to Officers Parr and Conlon. 13RP 458-60; 17RP 1258. Johnson was angry with Horton and not trying to protect him. He said he did not see the shooting, but he knew it happened because he ran out of the bathroom and saw the aftermath, and he said Horton admitted shooting Pitts. Johnson was never equivocal about whether he had seen the shooting; he was adamant that he had not. 18RP 1358.

A week later, however, Johnson changed his story. 13RP 452. In an interview with Investigator Sean Conlon, Johnson claimed for the first time that he had actually witnessed the shooting. 14RP 621; 17RP 1260.

Conlon remarked that that was new information, and he asked Johnson whether Pitts' people had threatened him or anything. 14RP 621-22; 17RP 1259. Johnson told Conlon, "They came up in my face and told me, Oh you was a lie about what happened; um, it's gonna be problems. This and that and the other, and I'm like, Wow." 14RP 621.

Johnson testified consistent with the new version of events. He said that Pitts and Horton were both at the apartment when Borja and Ross left, and Williams was already gone. 13RP 402. He was in the bathroom when he heard Pitts tell Horton that he didn't want to play anymore because Horton was drunk. Horton responded, "This is what drunk niggers do," and Johnson heard a gunshot. 13RP 427-28. Johnson said he ran out to the living room to see what was happening. He saw Horton pointing a gun at Pitts and smoke coming out of Pitts' abdomen. Pitts then collapsed, and Horton ran over and shot him two or three more times. 13RP 428-29, 443. Johnson said he started cussing Horton out. Horton told him he didn't have to worry, and he dragged Pitts outside. 13RP 431.

Johnson testified that he had left some facts out when he was first interviewed, including the names of the people who had been at the apartment. 13RP 447-48. He didn't want to be involved, and that affected how he answered the officers' questions. 13RP 450. He explained that he probably mispronounced some words and said a lot of things different

when he told the police that he didn't see the shooting. 13RP 463. He said he tried his best to describe what he saw, but he never mentioned that he saw Horton shoot Pitts. 13RP 464, 468. He did not break the shooting into two parts when he spoke to the police that day. 14RP 535. Nor did he mention hearing anything Pitts or Horton said. 14RP 540. Instead, he said that he heard gunshots while he was in the bathroom. 14RP 539. When Officer Parr asked what he saw when he came out of the bathroom, Johnson said he saw Pitts lying on the floor and Horton standing over him talking stupid. 14RP 545. On redirect Johnson claimed that he left out details in his initial interview because he was trying to protect Horton. 14RP 631.

Johnson was the only witness who could identity Borja and Ross, but he had refused to provide their names to police or defense counsel for a year and a half after the incident. 13RP 487; 15RP 664. Then, at the start of the second trial, Johnson contacted them saying Horton was trying to pin the gun on him and asked them to testify. 16RP 1041; 17RP 1096, 1099. They agreed, and at that point Johnson gave their names to the State. 15RP 665; 17RP 1246.

Anthony Ross testified that after they returned from the club, he sat on the couch for a while and then visited with Johnson while he did his breathing treatment. 16RP 1001-02. Horton had been getting in Pitts'

face and smack talking, while Pitts held his hands up for Horton to back away. 16RP 1004-08. The situation did not escalate, and when Ross and Borja left, there was no sense of tension. 16RP 1011. Borja's testimony was similar to his son's. 17RP 1079-85. He testified, however, that Horton at some point started talking about gangs. He got a bad feeling and told Ross it was time to leave. 17RP 1086.

Joshua Elam, the neighbor who had called 911, testified at trial that he was awake and at his computer when he heard a gunshot. He walked to his window and saw a man stumbling backwards out of Johnson's apartment. Another man ran out after him. Elam then called 911. As he was on the phone, he saw the first man being dragged around the corner. 18RP 1360-62. The man who was dragging him had one hand on each wrist and was not carrying anything else. 18RP 1363. Elam later saw that man come back out of the apartment wearing a jacket. He had an object in his right hand and nothing in his left hand. 18RP 1365. Elam heard only one gunshot, although he testified it could have been two shots in rapid succession. He did not hear a gunshot, followed by a pause, followed by additional shots. If the man was shot twice, both shots were fired at the same time. 18RP 1378.

Investigator Conlon testified that he works in the gang unit and responded to the scene because the crime was possibly gang related.

17RP 1185. Conlon interviewed Horton at the police station. He testified that Horton used a number of gang terms in the interview, and he defined those for the jury. 17RP 1188-92. He also described the meanings of Horton's tattoos. 17RP 1206-12. Conlon testified that the colors associated with Gangster Disciples are black and blue or black and red. Hoover Crips are orange and blue. The Chicago Bears NFL colors are orange and blue, and Horton was wearing orange and blue that night. 17RP 1234.

Conlon explained that Horton was clearly under the influence during the interview. 17RP 1256. The jury was shown a video of Conlon's interview with Horton. In it, Horton identified himself as a GD and said Pitts was a Crip. 17RP 1218. Horton said he was from Chicago and was a mob man, but he doesn't kick it with any GDs up here. Exhibit 141 at 7. Horton told Conlon that Pitts was trying to take his life, and he was protecting himself. <u>Id</u>. at 9-10. Pitts was a gang member who was trying to disrespect him, and he shot Pitts when Pitts threatened him. <u>Id</u>. at 10-12. He said Pitts was trying to "test [his] gangsta," but he didn't shoot Pitts just to shoot him; he shot Pitts to protect himself. <u>Id</u>. at 12-13. Pitts was saying "cuz this, cuz that" and socked Horton in the face. <u>Id</u>. at 14-15.

When Conlon asked where the gun came from, Horton said it was his, and there was no need to bring anyone else into this. <u>Id</u>. at 16. Horton said Pitts commented that he was wearing blue and orange and asked if he was a Hoover Crip. Horton told Pitts he was GD from Chicago. <u>Id</u>. at 18. Then Pitts "slapped the shit outta" him and they got to tussling, and Pitts was beating him up. <u>Id</u>. at 19. Horton told Conlon his leg was injured from when he and Pitts were fighting, although he did not seek medical treatment for the injury. 17RP 1217; 18RP 1295. The next thing he knew, Horton shot Pitts. Exhibit 141 at 91. When Conlon asked about the gun again, Horton again begged Conlon to leave his people out of this. Id. at 20-21.

Horton said that Pitts wanted to slap box him, but "he got me fucked up and slapped the shit outta me though!" It got to the point where Pitts was trying to test his waters. Horton didn't want to fight, but Pitts figured he could get some stripes on him. <u>Id</u>. at 27-28. Horton again asked Conlon to keep everybody else out of it. <u>Id</u>. After assuring Horton he would leave his people out of it, Conlon asked more questions about the gun. Horton claimed he got it from the streets, but he did not know anything else about the gun other than it was a .45. <u>Id</u>. at 29-30. When Conlon asked why he slap boxed with Pitts, Horton said Pitts came in drunk and high, said cuz this and cuz that, commented on his jacket, and

they started slap boxing a little. But then it got out of control, Pitts had him in a choke hold, and Horton shot him. <u>Id</u>. at 33.

Horton testified at trial that when they got back to Johnson's apartment after leaving the club, Johnson went straight to his bedroom, while he stayed in the living room watching TV, drinking beers, and smoking marijuana. Williams, Borja and Ross arrived about ten to 15 minutes later. Pitts had been walking out front when he and Johnson arrived, but he did not come inside. 19RP 1471-72. According to Horton, there was never a point when Borja, Ross and Pitts were in the apartment at the same time. 19RP 1474.

Borja went to Johnson's room to talk to him. Johnson was trying to get rid of a .45 caliber pistol, and he told Borja to put the word out that it was for sale. Horton testified that that was the gun used in the shooting. 19RP 1473.

Horton planned to spend the night at Johnson's apartment, and once Borja, Ross, and Williams left, he took off his shoes and jacket, preparing to sleep. 19RP 1474-75. He left the door open to air out the apartment. 19RP 1475. As he was trying to relax, he heard someone at the door saying "What's up cuz? Where the drink at?" 19RP 1475. He looked and saw it was Pitts. Id.

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