NO. 46533- 7- 11

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V. 

WILLIAM CHARLES HORTON JR., APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Stephanie Arend

No. 12- 1- 04021- 6

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST

Prosecuting Attorney

By
CHELSEY MILLER

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 42892

930 Tacoma Avenue South

Room 946

Tacoma, WA 98402

PH: ( 253) 798- 7400

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

argument between the defendant and his girlfriend, but no one was

arrested. 13RP 387- 391; 16RP 1017, 1052- 53. After having a few drinks, 

everyone went to the nightclub Latitude 84 and drank there until about

1: 30 am before returning to Mr. Johnson' s apartment. 13RP 370, 384, 

391- 393; 16RP 991- 97, 1052- 55, 1061. Shortly thereafter, Charles Pitts, a

neighbor of Mr. Johnson' s who was also known as " Shottie", also showed

up. 13RP 373- 74, 393- 96; 16RP 998- 99. 
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Everyone went into the living room of Mr. Johnson' s apartment to

hang out and watch tv. 13RP 396; 16RP 999. After a little bit, defendant

took off his shirt and said he wanted to slap box with Mr. Pitts. 13RP

397; 17RP 1080. Both were intoxicated and began to slap box as Mr. 

Johnson went to his bedroom to begin a breathing treatment for COPD. 

13RP 397- 400. Mr. Ross watched Mr. Pitts and defendant rough house

and get in each other' s faces, while Mr. Pitts motioned with his hands and

told defendant he did not want to get into it. 16RP 1004- 05. Defendant

continued to provoke Mr. Pitts and get in his face by trash talking as Mr. 

Pitts told him to back off. 16RP 1006- 08. Mr. Ross then went back into

Mr. Johnson' s room to talk with him. 16RP 1009- 10. 

Mr. Borja remembered Mr. Pitts and defendant slap boxing two

different times, both initiated by the defendant. 17RP 1080- 81. The

second time, Mr. Pitts started to get angry because he did not want to

continue. 17RP 1080- 83. At one point, Mr. Borja tried to talk to both of

them to tell them to stop and cool off. 17RP 1081. It was clear to Mr. 

Borja that Mr. Pitts " won" the second round by getting more slaps on

defendant' s face. 17RP 1085. Defendant then started talking about being

a Chicago BGD (Black Gangster Disciple) and member of the Folk Nation

gang. 17RP 1086, 1089. Mr. Borja had a bad feeling, so he and his son

3 Mr. Johnson and Mr. Borja testified that " slap boxing" is open hand boxing where the
goal is to touch the other person' s face. 13RP 397, 437; 17RP 1082. 
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told Mr. Johnson they were leaving to go to his girlfriend' s house. 13RP

402; 16RP 1011- 13; 17RP 1090. 

After they left, Mr. Johnson walked out of his room to go to the

bathroom and could hear Mr. Pitts and defendant speaking to one another. 

13RP 403. He heard Mr. Pitts say that he did not want to play anymore

because the defendant was drunk. 13RP 427. Mr. Johnson heard the

defendant respond "[ t]his is what drunk niggers do" followed by a

gunshot. 13RP 427- 28. 

Mr. Johnson ran out of his bathroom and saw defendant pointing a

gun at Mr. Pitts who had smoke coming from his abdomen. 13RP 429. 

Mr. Pitts collapsed and defendant ran over, pointed the gun at Mr. Pitts

and mumbled "[ y] ou can' t do nothing to me now. You' re dead" before

shooting him what Mr. Johnson believed was three more times. 13RP

429- 31; 14RP 630. As Mr. Johnson stood yelling at defendant, defendant

told him he did not have to worry about it and began to drag Mr. Pitts' 

body outside the apartment into the street. 13RP 431. 

Officers responded to the report of shots fired at the Williamsburg

Apartments around 3: 20am on October 24, 2014. 12RP 203- 205, 233, 

254; 13RP 314, 334- 5. As they approached the scene, they observed a

large object, later identified as Mr. Pitts' body laying in the middle of the

parking lot. 12RP 208- 210; 13RP 318. The officers witnessed defendant

run out of the apartment with a gun in his hand, stand over Mr. Pitts' body

and yell " I' m going to kill you, motherfucker." 12RP 208- 211, 256, 260. 
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The officers yelled at defendant to get on the ground and drop the firearm. 

12RP 212, 256. 

Defendant complied, officers secured defendant in handcuffs and

secured the gun. 12RP 237, 261- 63. While other officers secured the

scene and began talking with people who were standing near the

apartment, defendant said "[ t]hey' re not involved. I' m the only suspect." 

12RP 237. He also looked at Mr. Pitts and while laughing said "[ t]hat

motherfucker is dead." 12RP 238, 261. Defendant was being placed in

the back of a patrol car when he told police Mr. Pitts " was part of the

Hilltop Crips and that' s what did it." 13RP 355. Defendant was read his

Miranda rights and transported to the police station for an interview. 

13RP 356; 17RP 1186- 87. A list of emergency contact numbers was

found on him entitled " man down emergency numbers." 19RP 1500. 

At the scene, officers observed Mr. Pitts had his t -shirt pulled up

over his head, there was blood on the shirt over his mouth and he was not

breathing. 12RP 213. A black bag was found near his body which

contained a bottle, baggies of marijuana and blue pills and a pair of socks. 

15RP 712- 713. A blood stain trail led from the apartment along the

walkway near where Mr. Pitts body lay. 15RP 754- 758. 

When officers entered Mr. Johnson' s apartment, they observed

blood on the floor by the entryway. 13RP 321- 22. A blood stain and a

fired cartridge casing was found on the carpet in the living room. 15RP

697. The blood was later determined to have swipe patterns consistent
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with an object moving through the blood stain inside to outside of the

apartment. 15RP 698. Officers also found blood on the wall between the

kitchen and the living room and on the back wall of the kitchen. 15RP

707- 709. Officers did not find anything that appeared to be displaced, 

knocked over or in disarray in the apartment. 15RP 699- 700. When

officers moved a rolling chair from the kitchen, they found an additional

shell cartridge. 15RP 716- 17. 

An autopsy was performed on Mr. Pitts' body. 15RP 824. He was

shot two times and two bullets were removed from his body. 15RP 830; 

16RP 906-911. One gunshot entered on the left side of his abdomen near

his belly button and the bullet was recovered from his pelvis. 15RP 830- 

3 1. 

30-

31. The medical examiner testified that it was likely that that wound

would have caused pain and caused Mr. Pitts to react by holding his

abdomen or trying to protect his abdomen. 15RP 837. The other gunshot

entered the left side of Mr. Pitts' chest, struck his heart and lodged in his

right lung. 15RP 841- 42. It was this shot that caused internal bleeding

and death within a matter of minutes. 15RP 843- 44. 

The medical examiner was unable to determine which gunshot

occurred first, but knew they both occurred within a small number of

minutes. 15RP 830; 16RP 914. He could also tell that Mr. Pitts was shot

from at least two feet away and the abdominal wound likely occurred

when both individuals were standing up. 16RP 912- 17. The angle of the
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chest wound was steeper making it likely that the shooter was in a higher

position or the victim was bending over. 16RP 917- 18. 

A toxicology report revealed Mr. Pitts had an alcohol

concentration of .
334, four times the legal limit to drive. 15RP 838. The

medical examiner testified this made it likely he was impaired with slurred

speech and would have been obviously intoxicated. 15RP 838; 16RP

The gun defendant had was a Fire Star .45 caliber semi-automatic

pistol. 15RP 714, 729- 31; 17RP 1153. The magazine was capable of

firing six cartridges and the gun had three unfired cartridges in the

magazine. 15RP 714, 729- 31, 43; 17RP 1141- 42. The three unfired

cartridges were jacketed hollow point which makes them able to penetrate

the body, but less likely to exit out of the body. 15RP 751- 52. The gun

also had a fired cartridge case that did not extract properly after it had

been fired and meant the gun would no longer fire at that point until the

malfunction was cleared. 15RP 736- 37; 17RP 1149. If someone had

attempted to fire after the casing had not been properly extracted, it would

make a metal on metal clicking sound, but would be unlikely to be

confused with someone firing a gun. 15RP 759- 61; 17RP 1149. A third

projectile was never recovered during the police investigation. 15RP 775. 

The shell casing found in the living room and the cartridge found

in the kitchen were .45 automatic caliber and a firearms expert determined

The medical examiner testified this number is . 33 percent, the same as used in
breathalyzers. 
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that they were fired from defendant' s gun. 15RP 718- 19, 730- 39; 17RP

1156. The two bullets found in Mr. Pitts' body were also determined to be

fired from defendant' s gun. 17RP 1157- 59. Although they were

examined, police were unable to find fingerprints on any of the casings. 

15RP 779- 80. 

During the trial, a recording of defendant' s interview with

Investigator Conlon was played for the jury and a transcript of the

interview was given to them. 17RP 1202; Ex. 141. In the interview, 

defendant said Mr. Pitts was a Crip gang member who " slapped the shit

out of him when they started wrestling and Mr. Pitts was beating him up. 

Ex. 8- A; Ex. 141. He said Mr. Pitts was putting his hands on him and

testing his " gangsta" and the next thing defendant knew, he had shot Mr. 

Pitts. Ex. 8- A; Ex. 141. He said he then " drug [ Mr. Pitts'] ass out into the

middle of the street ... and laughed." Ex. 8- A; Ex. 141. Defendant told

Investigator Conlon the gun was his and asked Investigator Conlon to

keep his people and friends out of the investigation. Ex. 8- A; Ex. 141. 

Jurors also saw photographs Investigator Conlon had taken of

defendant the day of the shooting. 17RP 1203- 14. Defendant had no

visible injuries on him and had several Gangster Disciple related tattoos

on his body. 17RP 1203- 14. Defendant was never treated for any injuries

before or after being taken to the jail. 17RP 1216- 18. 

The jury also saw photographs of Mr. Johnson' s apartment after

the shooting during the trial. 13RP 438- 42. Mr. Johnson described how
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nothing appeared to be damaged or in disarray and it looked the same as it

did before he went to bed aside from the blood on the floor and a chair that

was moved. 13RP 438- 42, 466. He said the black bag found near Mr. 

Pitts was not his and he believed it belonged to defendant. 14RP 587. 

Mr. Johnson was interviewed by police the day of the shooting and

a second time about a week later. He admitted during the trial that in his

first interview with police, he left out the names of several people who

were with him that night in an effort to keep them from being involved. 

13RP 445- 449; 14RP 631- 32. He also admitted he left out several

statements defendant said to him and held back some information during

the interview because defendant was his friend. 13RP 445- 450, 546- 48; 

14RP 631- 34. He said that after he was contacted by two women and a

man who were friends with Mr. Pitts and upset about the shooting, he told

police the full story in the second interview. 13RP 450- 51 14RP 631- 34. 

Mr. Ross testified during the trial that defendant showed him a gun

he had in his back pocket earlier in the night when they were at Mr. 

Johnson' s apartment. 16RP 1015. Mr. Borja also testified that when

people inside Latitude 84 started talking smack to him, defendant told him

he had his back and showed him a black gun tucked in the back of his

pants. 16RP 1059. Mr. Borja said one could have definitely gotten a gun

past security at the bar that night because were doing minimal pat downs. 

16RP 1056. 
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Mr. Ross and Mr. Borja both stated they never returned to Mr. 

Johnson' s apartment that night because when Mr. Borja called Mr. 

Johnson to say they were on their way back, they learned someone had

been shot. 16RP 1014; 17RP 1093. They did not talk to the police

because they had not seen the shooting and no one contacted them. 16RP

1018; 17RP 1095. They eventually talked to the police in May of 2014

when Mr. Johnson asked them to come forward and tell the police what

they saw because the defendant was saying the gun was Mr. Johnson' s. 

16RP 1018, 1041; 17RP 1096. 

A neighbor who called 911 recalled hearing only one shot the night

of the shooting. 18RP 1361. He went to his window and observed a man

stumbling back out of the apartment before collapsing and being followed

by another man. 18RP 1361- 62. Shortly thereafter, he said he saw a

shirtless black man dragging a body around the corner. 18RP 1361- 63. 

Defendant chose to testify during the trial. 19RP 1451. He denied

ever slap boxing with Mr. Pitts and said that Mr. Ross and Mr. Borja were

never in Mr. Johnson' s apartment that night at the same time as Mr. Pitts. 

19RP 1473- 75. Defendant said the gun was not his, but Mr. Johnson' s. 

19RP 1471- 74. He said Mr. Ross and Mr. Borja came back from the bar

with him so Mr. Johnson could show him the gun he was trying to sell. 

19RP 1471- 74. Defendant testified Mr. Ross and Mr. Borja left within 15- 

20 minutes. 19RP 1473. He said he was alone in the living room

watching TV in the recliner when Mr. Pitts walked in demanding alcohol
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and calling him " cuz.
5" 

19RP 1475- 79. Defendant stated he refused to

give Mr. Pitts alcohol because he was already intoxicated. 19RP 1479- 80. 

Mr. Pitts got very upset and started yelling about defendant' s orange and

blue jacket and how those were " snoover6" colors in his neighborhood. 

19RP 1480- 81. Defendant said Mr. Pitts continued saying " cuz" to

indicate to defendant that he was a Crip. 19RP 1482- 83. 

Defendant testified that Mr. Pitts started to flinch at him, ball up

his fist and approach like he was going to punch him before he actually

punched him harder than he had ever been hit in his life. 19RP 1483- 84. 

Defendant said he had seen Mr. Pitts beat up another gang member a week

earlier and Mr. Johnson had to stop Mr. Pitts during that fight. 19RP

1476- 78. Defendant said he got up and grabbed Mr. Pitts around his waist

as Mr. Pitts continued punching him. 19RP 1484- 86. They got into a

struggle where Mr. Pitts was punching and choking defendant. 19RP

1484- 87. Defendant testified Mr. Pitts was punching him saying "[ o] n the

set, Cuz; on the set Cuz. I' m going to kill you, Cuz. I' m going to kill you." 

19RP 1485- 86. Defendant got free, ran to the kitchen, grabbed the gun off

the counter and shot Mr. Pitts twice. 19RP 1487- 88. He testified he

believed Mr. Pitts was going to kill him and he just wanted Mr. Pitts to

stop attacking him. 19RP 1489. 

s Investigator Conlon testified that " cuz" is a common term used in gangs when one Crip
member is referring to another Crip member. 17RP 1190- 91. 
6 Investigator Conlon testified that calling someone a " snoover" is a term used in gangs to
disrespect someone who is part of the Hoover Crips. 
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Defendant dropped the gun on the floor as Mr. Johnson came out

of the room hysterical. 19RP 1488- 90. Mr. Johnson told defendant to get

Mr. Pitts out of the house. 19RP 1488- 90. Defendant said he moved the

body, with the help of Mr. Johnson, to the parking lot and went back

inside and grabbed the gun. 19RP 1490- 91. Defendant testified the bag

found next to Mr. Pitts was not his. 19RP 1494. 

Defendant said he lied several times during his interview with

Investigator Conlon. He said he lied about the gun being his to protect

Mr. Johnson. 19RP 1532- 33. He said he lied when he said he met Mr. 

Pitts for the first time that night because he had met him when he saw him

fighting a week earlier. 19RP 1540-45. He said he lied when he told

Investigator Conlon that Mr. Pitts liked his orange and blue jacket. 19RP

1540- 45. He also said he lied when he told Investigator Conlon that they

slap boxed before the shooting, other people were present and that Mr. 

Pitts had " slap boxed the shit out of [him]". 19RP 1563- 67. 

C. ARGUMENT. 

1. DEFENDANT' S STATEMENTS DURING THE

INTERVIEW WITH INVESTIGATOR CONLON WERE

PROPERLY ADMITTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH

THE FEDERAL AND WASHINGTON

CONSTITUTIONS AND RELEVANT LAW. 

Under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, no

person " shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against

himself." Under article I, section 9 to the Washington Constitution, "[ n] o
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person shall be compelled in any criminal case to give evidence against

himself" To secure the privilege against self-incrimination, a person in

custody must be advised before questioning that he has the right to the

presence of any attorney. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 479, 86 S. 

Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 ( 1966). A waiver of this right by the suspect

must by knowing, voluntary and intelligent. State v. Radcliffe, 164 Wn.2d

900, 905- 06, 194 P. 3d 250 ( 2008). Even after they are waived however, a

suspect can invoke the right to an attorney at any point during the

interview and the interrogation must cease. Id. at 906. 

In 1982, the Washington Supreme Court held: 

W]henever even an equivocal request for an attorney is
made by a suspect during custodial interrogation, the scope
of that interrogation is immediately narrowed to one subject
and one only. Further questioning thereafter must be
limited to clarifying that request until it is clarified. 

State v. Robtoy, 98 Wn.2d 30, 39-40, 653 P. 2d 284 ( 1982) ( quoting

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